1972

The State of of Utah v. Danny Wettstein : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant was convicted of the crime of robbery in a bench trial held before the Honorable VeNoy Christoffersen, Judge, First Judicial District Court, Cache County, State of Utah, on December 9, 1971.

DISPOSITION OF THE CASE IN LOWER COURT

After conviction for robbery, the Defendant was sentenced to the Utah State Prison for the indeterminate term as provided by law. During the course of the proceedings, the lower Court denied the Defendant's motion to suppress evidence and to suppress line-up identification.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Appellant seeks to reverse the trial court's denial of the Appellant's motion to suppress evidence and identification and seeks to have the case remanded for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Primarily, it should be noted that the transcript on appeal consists of three volumes. The three volumes are not progressively numbered; therefore, it will be necessary that references to each volume be made separately. Thus, reference to transcript referring to the Defendant's motion to suppress will be designated as (MS-....) and the trial will be referred and designated as (TR-....). The pleading will be designated as (P-....).

The Defendant was charged with the crime of robbery occurring in Cache County, Utah, on March 26, 1971, in violation of UCA (1953)76-51-1.

The trial proceeded before the Honorable VeNoy Christoffersen, Judge, without a jury. It was stipulated that the Defendant would agree that if the proposed witnesses were called that they would testify, in substance, to the facts as represented by the prosecutor to the Court. (TR-5,6).

Pursuant to the stipulation, the prosecutor represented that if William Bud Mortenson were called, he would testify that he was employed at the Yeates Mobil Service Station in College Ward, Cache County, and that on March 26, as he was closing up the station about 10:00 P.M., he was approached by a masked person, gun in hand, and ordered to lie down. (TR-7). The masked person bound his arms and legs, covered his head and took his wallet and the cash box which was in the station attendant's car parked just outside the station's front door. (TR-7). The attendant heard the sounds of motor vehicles spinning their wheels coming from the rear of the station. The masked person returned and inquired about the operability of the vehicles in the station. (TR-8). The masked person used the truck and chain to liberate the stuck vehicles. (TR-9).

Thereafter, he freed himself and summoned the sheriff. He observed the rear area of the station and saw that his car was stuck in a ditch located east of the station and the truck was parked on a gravel road east of the station. (TR-10).

The attendant could not establish the identity of the masked person. (TR-9).

The testimony of Charles Ames and Aneta J. Ames, his wife, is found in the Defendant's motion to suppress. The Defendant stipulated that their testimony at trial

would substantially be the same as their testimony during the Defendant's motion to suppress. (TR-11).

In the evening hours, approximately 10:00 P.M., the Ames were returning from Wellsville, and turned on the Nibley Road. They observed some cars in a ditch (MS-67). Mrs. Ames, a passenger, observed two cars from her seat. One was a light blue Studebaker Lark with the right tail-light out and the left tail-light broken but functional. (MS-69-70). Further, she observed a "Utah State University" sticker on the back window. (MS-69-70). A person approached her vehicle and asked for assistance. (MS-70). She and her husband went to their residence to get their truck. When they returned to the scene, the parties were gone. (MS-70). She became suspicious and called the Sheriff. (MS-71).

Deputy Merrill responded to her call and the Ames and he returned to the scene. (MS-71). Photographs were shown to them and Mr. Ames selected the photograph of the Defendant. (MS-73). Again, on Sunday, two days following the incident, the photographs were shown. She selected the Defendant's photograph. (MS-74).

She made an in-court identification of the Defendant (MS-75). Other facts regarding the identification will be brought in argument.

Also on Sunday, she was shown photographs of a "Lark" automobile. (MS-75). She identified the car in the photo as being the car she observed at the scene. (MS-75).

Mr. Ames's testimony largely corroborated Mrs. Ames'. (MS-91-95). He also selected the Defendant's photograph. (MS-95-96).

Both Ames testified as to a visual observation of the Defendant through a one-way mirror at the Logan City Police Station. (MS-89).

The testimony of Deputy Merrill and Deputy Crockett during the Defendant's motion to suppress was incorporated in the prosecution's case during the trial by stipulation (TR-12), subject to Defendant's prior objections. (TR-12).

Deputy Crockett visited the residence of one Anne Fonnesbeck on March 28, 1971. He approached the residence from the rear and, looking through a hedge, he observed the suspect vehicle parked in the rear of the residence. (M-17). He and Sheriff Carter returned to the residence and went on to the private property of Fonnesbeck and took pictures of the vehicle. (MS-36). These photographs were later shown to the Ames and used to obtain a search warrant and admitted in evidence. (MS-22, P-4). Other facts relating his testimony will be discussed in arguments.

Deputy Merrill observed the suspect vehicle on March 28, 1971, behind the Fannesbeck residence. He accompanied Deputy Crockett on to the private property and took photographs of the vehicle. (MS-42). This entry on to the Fannesbeck residence was without the consent of Anna Fannesbeck, her husband or the Defendant. (MS-42). The photographs were shown to the Ames and used as a basis to obtain a search warrant. (MS-44, P-4). Other facts will be brought during argument.

The prosecutor would call Robert Bowers who would testify that he loaned his gun to one Gene Turner prior to March 26, 1971, and received it back after March 26, 1971. When the gun was returned there was mud on the handgrip. (T-13).

Defendant stipulated to Ann Fannesbeck's proposed testimony. (T-14).

Ann Fannesbeck was granted immunity by the prosecution (T-14). She resides at 135 East Third North, Logan, Utah. She is acquainted with the Defendant. On the night of March 26, 1971, the Defendant and two others arrived at her residence approximately at 10:30 to 11:00 P.M. The three appeared nervous and had mud on their clothes. They discussed the robbery and admitted thereto. (T-15). She took their clothing to a laundry mat and washed them. The Defendant owned a Studebaker Lark. (TR-15).

The Defendant stipulated to the testimony of one Gene Barry Turner. (T-18). Mr. Turner was granted immunity. (T-17). He would testify that he, Robert Sheen and Defendant robbed Yeates Mobil Station in College Ward. The gun was obtained from Robert Bowers and Robert Sheen did the actual robbery. (T-18).

The trial Court found the Defendant guilty of the crime of robbery. (MS-18).

ARGUMENT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS WHERE THE SEARCH WARRANT WAS OBTAINED THROUGH THE USE OF PHOTOGRAPHS, OBTAINED BY AN ILLEGAL ENTRY IN VIOLATION OF DEFENDANT'S RIGHT AGAINST ILLEGAL SEARCH AND SEIZURE.

The Defendant filed a motion to suppress items of evidence which were obtained through a search warrant. (P-49). The search warrant was issued two days after the incident and pursuant to said arrest, a Studebaker Lark, 4-door sedan, was seized at the apartment house of James Fannesbeck. Other items seized were a set of mounted snow tires, extra tail light lens, vehicle registration found in or near the vehicle. (See P-6,8).

A hearing on Defendant's motion was held before the Trial Court on October 22, 1971. At the conclusion of the hearing the Trial Court granted the Defendant's motion to suppress as to all items obtained by the use of the search warrant. However, the Trial Court denied the Defendant's request to suppress the photographs of the suspect vehicle which were introduced in trial and shown to two of the state's witnesses. (MS-103, 109). The Trial Court's rationale was that the Defendant had no standing (MS-103); the taking of photographs did not constitute a search (MS-107), and that there was probable cause plus exigent circumstances to warrant the taking of photographs. (MS-108).

The Defendant submits that the Trial Court's rationale was erroneous.

The evidence at the hearing on the Defendant's motion to suppress established that a Lark Studebaker automobile was at the scene at the time of the robbery. (MS-69-70). This vehicle was a late model, light blue and the right tail light was missing. (MS-69-70). The year of the vehicle was unknown. (MS-19). Deputy Crockett, standing in a field to the rear of the residence and looking through a fence and a hedge, saw the right of a car. (MS-20). He could not see the tires or the rear tail lights (MS-20). After seeing this vehicle parked behind the Foncesbeck or the Defendant. (MS-42). After the a polaroid camera and returned to the residence and took

the photographs. In taking the photographs, the police officers went upon the private property. (MS-42). This entry was accomplished without the permission of the Fannesbeck's or the Defendant. (MS-42). After the photographs were taken, they were shown to two state witnesses who identified the car in the photograph as being the car they observed at the scene of the crime. (MS-43). Also, at the time of the taking of the photographs, Deputy Crocket and Deputy Merrill observed the missing tail lights. (MS-45). Prior to the time the photographs were taken, Deputy Merrill was unable to determine the year the vehicle was manufactured. (MS-48).

The Defendant was called as a witness at the hearing on the motion to suppress. Defendant owned a 1960 light blue Studebaker which he parked at 135 East Third North in Logan, Utah. (MS-4). This residence was occupied by Jim and Ann Fannesbeck. (MS-4). The vehicle was parked directly behind the building with the consent of the Fannesbecks. (MS-4). Ann Fannesbeck testified that she and her husband, Jim, were residing at the residence on March 28, 1971. As a tenant she was permitted to use the parking space behind the building. (MS-12). On March 28, 1971, she had given the Defendant permission to park his car. (MS-12). She did not give the police officer permission to come upon her property or to photograph the car. (MS-13).

It must be kept in mind that the Defendant was not arrested for the crime charged until after the photographs were taken and execution of the search warrant. (MS-61). Moreover, the Defendant was not arrested at the location where the vehicle was parked.

There can be no question that the Defendant has standing to raise and object to the seizure of his vehicle by the taking of photographs thereof. It was his vehicle. The vehicle was parked with the permission of the tenants. The instant case is similar to the facts found in *U.S. v. Jeffers*, 342 U.S. 48, 96 L. Ed. 59, 72 S. Ct. Moreover, *Jones v. U.S.*, 362 U.S. 257, 46 Ed 2d 697, 80 S. Ct. 735, has eliminated subtle property distinctions and acknowledges that any person legitimately on their premises where the search occurs may challenge its legality.

The more indeterminable issue presented is whether the taking of the photograph of the vehicle constitutes a "search and seizure" within the contemplation of the 4th and 14th amendments. As bearing on this issue, it should be kept in mind that the Trial Court suppressed the items taken pursuant to the search warrant, including the vehicle itself. The three photographs were shown to the state's witnesses and used as a basis for obtaining a search warrant. The affidavit for the search warrant states "photo of the above car has been identified today by three eye witnesses as being at the Yeates Mobil

Station in Nibley on Friday evening at the time of the robbery of said station both before and after the robbery, and a broken tail light lens from this make of car was recovered from robbery scene where it was broken. . ." (P-3).

The issue herein presented is new to the State of Utah. No cases in point have been found.

If this Court accepts the Defendant's position that the taking of photographs of a vehicle constitutes a "seizure" under the constitution, this Court must then determine whether the seizure could be justified on other grounds. The Defendant respectfully submits that no grounds may be found to justify the seizure.

Justification for the seizure, if it exists, must be found in the principles announced in the cases dealing with warrantless searches of automobiles. The Defendant concedes that Courts have long distinguished between an automobile and a home office. (*Carroll v. U.S.*, 267 U.S. 132, 68 L.Ed 543, 45 S. Ct. 280, 39 ALT (1935).

A search incident to an arrest may render the instant search legal, except that *Preston vs. U.S.*, 376 U.S. 364, 84 S. Ct. 881, 11 L Ed 2d 777 (1964), places restrictions on purported searches made incident to arrest. Thus, where the arrest was for vagrancy and the vehicle was removed to the police department and searched after

the man was booked, the U.S. Supreme Court held that the search was too remote in time and place from the arrest. *Preston vs. U.S.*, supra.

In *Chambers vs. Marony*, 399 U.S. 42, 16 L Ed 2d 419, 90 S. Ct. (1970), the U.S. Supreme Court sustained a warrantless search of an automobile where the officers had probable cause to suspect the vehicle was used in a robbery. The Court insisted upon the requirement of probable cause, but only in exigent circumstances. The Court states:

“Only in exigent circumstances will the judgment of the police as to probable cause serve as a sufficient authorization for a search.” 399 U.S. 51

This Court endorsed the principles announced in *Chambers vs. Maroney*. In *State vs. Richards*, 489 P2d 422, 26 Utah 2d, 318 (1971), clearly this Court affirmed the “exigent circumstances” factor when this Court stated:

“The underlying rationale of *Chambers* is that exigent circumstances justify a warrantless search of an automobile *stopped on a highway*, where there is probable cause, because the car is movable, the occupants are alerted, and the car’s contents may never be found again if the warrant must be obtained. The opportunity to search is fleeting.”

This Court went on to hold that the record was void if any facts or circumstances to support the officer's belief that the truck was involved in another crime.

The Defendant submits that the same circumstances exist in the instant case. The Appellant's vehicle was not on the highway, but parked in a private parking stall and it was unoccupied. The opportunity to search was not fleeting. Quite the contrary, as evidenced by the fact that officers in fact had some five hours to obtain a search warrant and execute the search warrant. (MS-13).

Nor can it be asserted that the record established the existence of the probable cause requirement. The police officers were looking for a light blue Studebaker, late model, with a broken tail light. This vehicle was described as being at the scene.

Officer Crockett was looking for a blue Lark with a broken tail-light. (MS-91).

He observed the suspect vehicle from a vantage point off the property of Fannesbeck and through hedges which were 4 to 5 feet high with leaves. (MS-14, 20). Officer said he saw no hedges. (MS-20). He could see only the right side of the car. (MS-20) and could not see the tail-light area. (MS-20,21). He did not observe the tires nor the lenses until he returned with Deputy Carter, went on to the property and took the photo-

graphs. (MS-22). Moreover, he testified that he had seen the Defendant driving a blue Studebaker prior to the robbery (MS-31); however, he had seen other people driving a blue Studebaker Lark. (MS-32).

Deputy Crockett did receive information from Ann Fannesbeck as to the location of the vehicle. (MS-15). However, he testified that he had not received any other information from Ann Fannesbeck prior to the incident in question. (MS-31).

The Defendant respectfully submits that the record does not establish the existence of probable cause as defined in *Carroll vs. U.S.*, 267 U.S. 132, i.e., probable cause is a reasonable ground for belief of guilt . . . and means more than bare suspicion. The facts and circumstances within their knowledge and of which they had trustworthy information must be sufficient in themselves to warrant a man of reasonable caution in the belief that an offense has been or is being committed. *Crandall vs. U.S.*, supra.

ARGUMENT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING THE IN-COURT IDENTIFICATION OF THE DEFENDANT WHERE THE LINE-UP WAS ILLEGALLY PERFORMED.

The Appellant filed a motion to suppress the in-court identification on the grounds that the purported line was illegal as unduly suggestive. The Trial Court made a finding that line-up was illegal. (MS-109).

The line-up was conducted in the manner outlined in *State vs. Sheen*, 492 P2d 648, Utah 2d (1972) i.e., the Defendant, with Sheen, was taken into a room which had a one-way mirror without counsel.

Additional facts exist in the instant case which were not reported in the opinion *State vs. Sheen*, supra. Witness Mrs. Ames was shown many shots on the night of the robbery. (MS-51). She selected the Defendant's photo. (MS-59). Again on Sunday, the same photos were shown to her and she selected the Defendant's photo. (MS-53, 56, 73). The description of the suspect was stocky built, about 5'8"-9", quite bushy hair and a mustache. (MS-55). The only photo of a person with a mustache was the Defendant's photo. (MS-60). No effort was made to correlate the mug shots with the type of description received. (MS-57,59). Four out of the six mug shots did not portray a person with bushy hair. (MS-57,58). Strictly an oversight, the officer claims. (MS-60). At the line-up, the Defendant was the only person sporting a mustache. (MS-61).

Mrs. Ames, called by the prosecution, made an in-court identification of the Defendant based upon the prior two occasions of viewing the Defendant's photo-

graphs. (MS-75). Her description at the scene was short, dark complected kid. (MS-77). Perhaps long bushy hair (MS-79); dark hair (MS-80); stocky built, (MS-80). Her identification was based upon the general description of the fellow which included his height, stature or the person's whole body. (MS-84, 85). She, admittedly, was able to better identify a person seeing them in person than just by seeing a photograph. (MS-88). In fact, seeing the Defendant at the line-up assisted her in making the in-court identification. (MS-89).

Mr. Charles W. Ames was called by the prosecution. (MS-90). His reaction in seeing the mug shots was:

“A. Then I says, ‘I think that the other man could have been this one, but he had long hair, so may be not.’” (MS-95).

He makes an in-court identification based upon the two prior viewings of the mug shots. (MS-96).

On cross examination, Mr. Ames admitted that he gave no written description of the suspect. (MS-97). His sole description was “stocky built, dark complected.” (MS-98). Vaguely, he may have included the height as 5'7" — nothing said about hair or mustache. (MS-99). While he was contemplating the Defendant's mug shot due to his uncertainty, his wife had, in his presence, selected the Defendant's mug shot. (MS-102). He agreed

that in order to make an identification, it's much better to see the person individually in order to discern the person's general height, weight, general build, stature and complexion — things not discernable from a photograph. (MS-102). The line-up did assist him in making a court room identification. (MS-103). Both Ames were advised by John Merrill, Deputy Sheriff, that the police had arrested two people and requested the Ames to come down and see if they could identify them. (MS-62).

In requesting that this Court reverse the Trial Court's ruling, the Defendant relies upon *U.S. vs. Wade*, 388 U.S. 218, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1149, 87 S. Ct. 1926 (1967) and *Gilbert vs. California*, 388 U.S. 218, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1178, 87 S. Ct. 1951 (1967). In reliance of these cases, the Defendant is aware of this Court's holding in *State v. Sheen*, supra. It is submitted that the instant case presents distinguishable factors which would warrant a reversal of the instant case.

In *Wade*, the United States Supreme Court remanded the case because the record failed to disclose whether the in-court identification had an independent origin. 388 U.S. 242. Further, the Court stated that to strike the in-court identification would not be justified without first giving the Government the opportunity to establish by clear and convincing evidence that the in-court identifications were based upon observations of the suspect other than the line-up identification. 388 U.S. 239. In *Gilbert*, the Court stated:

“The admissions of the in-court identification without first determining that they were not *tainted* by an illegal line but were of independent origin was constitutional error.” (Italics mine) 388 U.S. 272.

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