1972

## The State of of Utah v. Danny Wettstein : Brief of Respondent

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

Applying *Ponce* to the facts of the instant case, the appellant did not conceal his automobile, and therefore, could not reasonably have expected its location to remain a secret. The vehicle was in plain view, and although the pictures were taken while trespassing on private property, the circumstances would not require this Court to suppress the photographs as a violation of the Fourth Amendment.

The Fourth Amendment cannot be used as a defense to every evidence-gathering activity that the government may initiate. This constitutional guarantee is dependent upon the specific acts of each case, as was apparent in *Katz v. United States*, 389 U. S. 347 (1967). In that case the defendant was convicted upon evidence obtained through an electronic listening device that was placed on a telephone booth the defendant was using. The Supreme Court reversed the conviction but explained that: "The Fourth Amendment protects people, not places. What a person knowingly exposes to the public, even at his own home or office, is not a subject of the Fourth Amendment." *Id.* at 351. The court rejected the notion that any particular area can be labelled as constitutionally protected, holding that the crucial factor is the reasonable expectation of the individual. A vehicle parked in a driveway and which is visible from an open alleyway cannot be considered to be in a "constitutionally protected area." The appellant did not locate his automobile in the driveway in an attempt to conceal it. Had this been his intention he surely would have found a garage or secluded area

away from the plain view of the public gaze. There was no reasonable expectation of privacy, and given the *Hester* doctrine, the photographs did not constitute a search and seizure.

## POINT II.

### THE LANGUAGE OF THE FOURTH AMENDMENT PROHIBITING UNREASONABLE SEARCHES AND SEIZURES DOES NOT INCLUDE THE TAKING OF A PHOTOGRAPH.

The general usage of the words "search" and "seizure" does not contemplate the taking of a photograph. In 79 C. J. S. *Searches and Seizures*, Sec. 1, search is defined as:

"An examination of a man's house, buildings, or premises, or of his person, with a view to the discovery of contraband or elicited or stolen property or some evidence of guilt to be used in the prosecution of a criminal action for some crime or offense with which he is charged."

Seizure, on the other hand, "contemplates a forcible dispossession of the owner, and it is not a voluntary surrender."

Not only have the legal encyclopedias narrowly defined the terms of the Fourth Amendment, but numerous cases have also done so. In *People v. West*, 300 P. 2d 729 (1956), the court held:

“A search implies a prying into hidden places for that which is concealed and that the object searched for has been hidden or intentionally put out of the way. While it has been said that ordinarily searching is a function of sight, it is generally held that the mere looking at that which is open to view is not a ‘search.’ A seizure contemplates a forcible dispossession of the owner and it is not a voluntary surrender.” *Id.* at 733.

From the accepted interpretations of the Fourth Amendment, it is apparent that the taking of a photograph is not constitutionally prohibited. In the instant case there was no examination or prying into that which was concealed, neither was there an attempt to dispossess the appellant of his car. And even if this Court found that there were a constructive seizure, it should not be classified as unreasonable. The Fourth Amendment was not intended to fit the circumstances proposed by the appellant and should not be so extended.

### POINT III.

EVEN IF THE PHOTOGRAPHING OF THE APPELLANT'S VEHICLE CONSTITUTED A SEIZURE, IT WAS JUSTIFIED UNDER THE AUTOMOBILE EXCEPTION.

The trial court in delivering its decision on the appellant's motion to suppress pointed out the different ways in which one can make a legal search. Included in these was the case where probable cause was shown, coupled with exigent circumstances (MS-107). In the instant

case probable cause was apparent, and in light of recent cases the exigent circumstance requirement was satisfied.

Probable cause has been defined in *Carroll v. United States*, 267 U. S. 132 (1924), as when:

“ . . . a peace officer . . . suspects one on his own knowledge of facts, or on facts communicated to him by others, and thereupon he has reasonable ground to believe that the accused has been guilty of felony . . .” *Id.* at 161.

Under this definition, the following facts of this case show probable cause to have existed.

On March 26, 1971, the Yeates Mobil Service Station in Nibley, Utah, was robbed by an armed gunman (TR-2). The victim notified the police and reported the details of the crime (TR-10). Shortly after the time of the robbery, two witnesses passed by the Yeates station and saw two cars stuck in a ditch. The witnesses were approached by an individual who asked for their assistance in freeing the cars (MS-68). The witnesses offered to go home and return with their truck, but on returning found that the car had already left (MS-70). Becoming suspicious, the witnesses called the police, and later that same night identified the appellant's picture at the police station from among several mug shots (MS-71, 73). Again on March 28, 1971, the witnesses were shown several photographs and identified the appellant's picture as the man they had seen at the service station (MS-74). The witnesses also identified the vehicle at the service station as a light blue Studebaker Lark (MS-69). The suspect iden-

tified by the witnesses had been observed driving such a light blue Studebaker Lark by Officer Crockett (MS-31). Officer Crockett was informed that the appellant's vehicle, a light blue Studebaker Lark, was located in the rear of the Fannesbeck residence (MS-14, 15). After finding out where the vehicle was located, Officer Crockett drove up an alleyway near the Fannesbeck property and observed the car (MS-17). At this point the officer had sufficient knowledge to satisfy the requirement of probable cause. From his own knowledge of the facts, coupled with the information provided by the witnesses, he had reasonable grounds to believe that the car he observed had been involved in the armed robbery.

The "exigent circumstance" requirement has been modified by the Supreme Court in *Chambers v. Marony*, 399 U. S. 42 (1970). In that case a vehicle seen leaving the scene of a robbery was stopped, the occupants arrested, and the vehicle removed to the police station. While the automobile was there, the police searched it without a warrant. The defendant objected to the search, but the Supreme Court upheld its validity explaining that although the search could not be justified as incident to an arrest,

" . . . if an effective search is to be made at any time, either the search must be made immediately without a warrant, or the car itself must be seized and held without a warrant for whatever period is necessary to obtain a warrant for search."  
*Id.* at 51.

Under the unique circumstances of this case, the second above mentioned alternative was used. The car was technically "seized" by a photograph which was necessary in obtaining the search warrant. No search was made prior to the issuance of the warrant, but rather a photo was taken to facilitate that issuance.

In *Chambers, supra*, there were no exigent circumstances at the time the search was accomplished. The vehicle was at the police station and the occupants under arrest. But still the Supreme Court held:

"For constitutional purposes, we see no difference between on the one hand seizing and holding a car before presenting the probable cause issue to a magistrate and on the other hand carrying out an immediate search without a warrant." *Id.* at 52.

Officer Crockett chose the first alternative, "seizing" the car through a photograph and then presenting the probable cause issue to a magistrate. Probable cause was evident, and what may have been a technical seizure was, therefore, justified.

The appellant proposes that *State v. Richards*, 26 Ut. 2d 318, 489 P. 2d 422 (1971), is applicable to the instant case. In that case a police officer made a warrantless seizure of the defendant's truck under the belief that the truck was involved in another crime different from the one for which the defendant was arrested. An examination of the court's holding reveals, however, that the case was decided on the issue of probable cause. The court stated:



“In the instant action, the sole justification for the seizure was the expressed belief of Officer Fife, that the truck was involved in another crime. The record is void of any facts or circumstances to support this belief and therefore will not presently support a finding of probable cause to seize the truck.” *Id.* at 424.

In the case at bar probable cause was established by the identification of the witnesses and the officer’s own knowledge. *Chambers, supra*, upheld a warrantless search that was made without exigent circumstances. If the court finds that photographing the appellant’s vehicle constituted a seizure, such a seizure can be justified under the *Chambers’* ruling since probable cause was evident.

#### POINT IV.

IDENTIFICATION OF THE APPELLANT WAS NOT VIOLATIVE OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS AND WAS PROPERLY ADMITTED.

A. THE IDENTIFICATION OF THE APPELLANT RESULTING FROM THE SHOW-UP IS AN EXCEPTION TO THE *GILBERT-WADE* RULES AND SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN SUPPRESSED.

The Supreme Court in *United States v. Wade*, 388 U. S. 218 (1967), expressed the following rationale for its ruling:

“ . . . we scrutinize any pretrial confrontation of the accused to determine whether the presence of his counsel is necessary to preserve the defendant's basic right to a fair trial as affected by his right meaningfully to cross-examine the witnesses against him and to have effective assistance of counsel at the trial itself. It calls upon us to analyze whether potential substantial prejudice to defendant's rights inheres in the particular confrontation and the ability of counsel to help avoid that prejudice.” *Id.* at 227.

Based on the aforementioned language, courts have not applied the *Gilbert-Wade* rules where the circumstances mitigated against application. This Court recognized this exception in *State v. McGee*, 24 Ut. 2d 396, 473 P. 2d 388 (1970), where the identification came within minutes after the commission of the crime.

The basis for the exception is that the courts must balance the need for prompt identification against the ability of counsel to avoid erroneous identification. In the instant case the presence of counsel at the show-up was unnecessary. The Ames had already identified the appellant on two separate occasions. The appellant was neither requested to wear any particular article of clothing nor asked to say anything. The confrontation did not prejudice the appellant's rights, the presence of counsel would have added nothing in helping to preserve the appellant's right to a fair trial, and therefore, the *Gilbert-Wade* rules do not apply.

B. THE IN-COURT IDENTIFICATION  
WAS BASED ON AN INDEPENDENT  
SOURCE.

If, in the alternative, it should be determined that the show-up were improper, the in-court identification had an independent source and was not tainted by suggestion from the show-up.

The Supreme Court in *Wade, supra*, reasoned that the in-court identification of Wade would be admitted if “. . . the in-court identifications were based on observations of the suspect other than the line-up identification.” *Id.* at 240.

In *Wade*, the court relied on the test applied in *Wong Sun v. United States*, 371 U. S. 471 (1963), as the proper one to be applied in these situations:

“Whether, granting establishment of the primary illegality, the evidence to which instant objection is made has been come at by exploitation of that illegality or instead by *means sufficiently distinguishable to be purged of the primary taint.* McGuire, *Evidence of Guilt*, 221 (1969).” *Id.* at 241. (Emphasis added.)

This court has also accepted an in-court identification when based on an independent source. In *State v. Vasquez*, 22 Ut. 2d 277, 451 P. 2d 786 (1969), a man that was beaten and robbed, later identified the defendant at a line-up conducted in the absence of counsel. The defendant filed a motion to suppress, but this court found:

“It is conceded that Vasquez was not advised that he could have counsel present at the line-up, nor that he knew in advance that a line-up was to take place. . . . The record before this court does permit an independent judgment and discloses that Coxey’s in-court identification had an independent source, namely, Coxey’s description of the automobile and its occupants and his identification of Vasquez and the other four defendants shortly after the occurrence and during the course of their apprehension.” *Id.* at 279.

The record before the court in this case establishes that the in-court identification was based on the Ames’ personal observations at the scene of the crime rather than the show-up, thus meeting the test of being “sufficiently distinguishable to be purged of any primary taint.” At the time the Ames stopped to offer their assistance the scene was well lighted. There was a mercury vapor light on top of a pole that cast a fairly strong light (MS-92, 93). Also there were lights from the service station and the dash lights on the car (MS-84). The Ames were driving a small compact, a Volkswagen, and were therefore very close to the appellant when he put his head down into the open window (MS-68). Mrs. Ames leaned over to the driver’s window to hear what the appellant was saying, and was close enough to have been able to touch the appellant’s nose (MS-89). Her identification of the appellant’s photo on two separate occasions was based on what she had observed at the scene of the crime (MS-90). Mr. Ames was within a foot of the appellant when he approached the Ames’ car and asked for assist-

ance (MS-92). In attempting to free the car, Mr. Ames took hold of the left door handle right next to the appellant who was driving the car (MS-92). Mr. Ames was given another look when he talked to the appellant before leaving the scene (MS-92). During this course of events both Mr. and Mrs. Ames were able to observe the appellant for several minutes as the group of men worked to extricate the vehicle from the ditch. Another important corroborating fact was that the light blue Studebaker Lark that Mrs. Ames identified (MS-69) as the vehicle stuck in the ditch was owned by the appellant (MS-5, 75).

Regardless of the court's determination of the legality of the show-up, there is ample evidence to support a finding that the in-court identification was based on independent sources. Both Mr. and Mrs. Ames observed the appellant at close range for several minutes. The vehicle that was described by Mrs. Ames was owned by the appellant. Given the extent of the Ames' observations, the taint of the show-up has been sufficiently dissipated to allow the in-court identification.

**C. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY INTERPRETED THE STANDARD OF PROOF NECESSARY TO REMOVE THE TAIN T OF AN ILLEGAL LINE-UP.**

The appellant in charging the trial court with error confuses the clear and convincing standard of proof proposed in *Wade, supra*. *Wade* did not require the state to show by clear and convincing evidence that the line-up

did not influence the identification. What *Wade* did require was explained in *McGee, supra*, wherein this court said:

“The court [in *Wade*] held that a courtroom identification, in fact, the fruit of a suspect pre-trial identification, was inadmissible, unless the prosecution can establish by clear and convincing evidence that the in-court identification was based on observations of the suspect other than the line-up identification.” *Id.* at 391.

The trial court stated that in *Wade* the conviction was vacated to allow the prosecution to show that the in-court identification was based on an independent source (MS-110). The requirement is not to show that the line-up did not influence the identification, for as the trial court said, “To hold that you would throw out any in-court identification where there is a line-up and no counsel present” (MS-110). The prosecution must show by clear and convincing evidence that the identification has an independent source and since the facts of the instant case provide such evidence, the in-court identification must be allowed.

#### POINT V.

ASSUMING ARGUENDO THAT THE APPELLANT'S ALLEGATIONS HAVE MERIT, THE CONVICTION MUST NEVER THE-LESS STAND UNDER THE DOCTRINE OF HARMLESS ERROR.

Rules 61 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, states:

“No error in either the admission or the exclusion of evidence, and no error or defect in any ruling or order or in anything done or omitted by the court or by any of the parties, is ground for granting a new trial or otherwise disturbing the judgment or order, unless refusal to take such action appears to the court inconsistent with substantial justice. The court at every stage of the proceeding must disregard any error or defect in the proceeding which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties.”

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